Software Engineering Support (SES)

Draft RFP Questions


(1-9) Please make available the following documents as part of the RFP to allow the interested vendors offer a comprehensive response:
1. Existing mission software documents (e.g. MOC ICDs, Preliminary Design, Test Plans, IT security plans)

Government Response below question 5:
2. Technical capability, sizing/timing, test plans, etc for the Common Flight Executive and the GPM software

Government Response below question 5:
3. Data Requirements for FSW specifications/documents  including:

a. Requirements Specifications

b. Configuration Management Plans 
c. Design (preliminary and critical) specifications
d. C&DH user’s guide
e. Telemetry definitions document
f. Test plan
g. Build Verification Test procedures document
h. System validation test procedures, Acceptance Test Results, System test readiness review, and Acceptance Test Results review package

Government Response below question 5:
4. List of available FSW in the GSFC FSW reuse library

Government Response below question 5:

5. A list of active missions and the type of SW (e.g., FSW, GSW, …) that the SES contractor must support for that mission 
a. Please include key characteristics such a number of lines of code (LOC), language, adopted standards, etc. that will permit adequate preparations to assume responsibility for the SW
Government Response for 1-5: The government is working to provide a series of GSFC Procedural Requirements (GPRs), NASA Procedural Requirements (NPRs), and/or Code 580 guideline/procedural documents. Documents that are considered competition and/or International Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR) sensitive with other internal organizations, NASA Centers, Private Industry, and/or academia will not be made available.
b. 
Task Orders issued under the current METS contract

Government Response: The government is working to provide task order descriptions on current contracts that are relevant to the SES effort.

6. Contract documents and mods to-date for the current METS (Contract attachments – Attachment J)

Government Response: The government is working to provide task order descriptions on current contracts that are relevant to the SES effort.

7. Performance Evaluation Board letter

Government Response: This information can only be obtained via a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request to the GSFC Office of Chief Counsel. 

8. Technical/program reports as part of deliverables

Government Response: The government is working to provide sample technical/program reports.
9. Details on Task Orders of other contracts that will be transitioned to SES
Government Response: The government is working to provide task order descriptions on current contracts that are relevant to the SES effort.
10. In the document “Attachment B - Target Hours.xls” it shows target labor hours by core labor skill category. Please provide hours distribution by each subcategory within the core labor skill category.

Government Response:  It is the intent of the government to specify hours by skill level. The final RFP will also specify the number of hours to be performed on-site versus off-site in the cost exhibits.

11. In the document “Attachment B - Target Hours.xls” it shows hours for prime and subcontractor. Do these hours correspond to the split on the current contract? Is the new contractor expected to follow the same split?
Government Response:  The hours do not correspond to the split on any of the current contracts.  The Final RFP will not delineate any breakdown between prime and subcontractor.  The breakdown in the Draft RFP was an inadvertant error.
12. Statement of Work Section 1.2 p.3: Flight SW Systems, p. 3, refers to use of FSW standards. Please provide examples of standards presently followed by GSFC? For example, are different standards used for U.S.-only missions versus international missions?

Government Response: Government Response for 1-5: The government is working to provide a series of GSFC Procedural Requirements (GPRs), NASA Procedural Requirements (NPRs), and/or Code 580 guideline/procedural documents. Documents that are considered competition and/or International Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR) sensitive with other internal organizations, NASA Centers, Private Industry, and/or academia will not be made available.

13. Statement of Work Section 1.3.1 p.5: Can you please provide examples of external systems with which the GMSEC architecture must be compatible?

Government Response:  GMSEC is one of many selectable options for Ground System support by projects. The ground system architecture can vary per project. GMSEC competes with ground systems available via academia, commercial sector, and other NASA Centers to support NASA missions. The government will make a request to the responsible party to ensure that the GMSEC website is current.
14. Statement of Work Section 1.5.1 p.8: Please provide additional details on the required CMMI support. Specifically, are there any plans to extend Software Process Improvement (SPI) support to achieve CMMI Level 3 or beyond? Alternatively, are there any plans to incorporate elements of the new CMMI for services formalism? If yet, please provide additional details on the GSFC timeline for CMMI appraisals.

Government Response: GSFC is considering a business case for CMMI Level 3. NASA is currently required to have Class B software, which is defined as flight and ground software that must perform reliably in order to accomplish primary mission objectives. The executive decision to go forth and what process areas will most likely not happen in the short term (within the next 9 months). Examples of Class B software for non-human (robotic) spaceflight include, but are not limited to, propulsion systems; power systems; guidance navigation and control; fault protection; thermal systems; command and control ground systems; planetary surface operations; hazard prevention; primary instruments; or other subsystems that could cause the loss of science return from multiple instruments. Timeline for reassessment of CMMI Level 2 compliance is May 2011.

15. Statement of Work Section 1.5.3 p. 9. Please provide information on the number and variety (e.g., operating system, HW vendor, etc.) of systems for which the SES contractor must provide system administration support

Government Response:  The Government’s operating systems are a cadre of  Windows, UNIX based, and MAC based, as well as a variety of standard COTS applications.

16. Statement of Work Section 1.3.1 Page 5 states that the contractor shall enhance government-related architectures such as GMSEC.

a. Is the GMSEC architecture mandated on virtually all current and upcoming missions? What other ground system architectures are being used currently by GSFC?

b. Is the information on GMSEC website up to date? 

c. Is the GMSEC architecture mandated on virtually all current and upcoming missions? What other ground system architectures are being used currently by GSFC?

Government Response:  GMSEC is one of many selectable options for Ground System support by projects. The ground system architecture can vary per project. GMSEC competes with ground systems available via academia, commercial sector, and other NASA Centers to support NASA missions. The government will make a request to the responsible party to ensure that the GMSEC website is current.

17. Sample Work Assignment Section 2.3, Page 4 states that the sample mission requires compliance to CMMI Level 2. 

a. Does all of SES effort work to the letter of the law of CMMI Level 2 or do some branches work to other levels?
Government Response: NASA is currently required to have Class B software only, which is defined as Flight and ground software that must perform reliably in order to accomplish primary mission objectives. Examples of Class B software for non-human (robotic) spaceflight include, but are not limited to, propulsion systems; power systems; guidance navigation and control; fault protection; thermal systems; command and control ground systems; planetary surface operations; hazard prevention; primary instruments; or other subsystems that could cause the loss of science return from multiple instruments.

18. Sample Work Assignment Page 3, Ground System Development – Please provide the list and capabilities of existing GOTS and COTS software products.
Government Response: The Offeror is requesting that the government provide information that could become a potential solution set to a technical approach and/or understanding of the requirements evaluation subfactor. It is the Offeror’s responsibility to conduct due diligence in this area. 

19. Sample Work Assignment Page 3, Science Data Processing System – Please clarify what responsibilities the SES contractor will have under this?

Government Response: The government believes the contractor’s level of responsibility is defined in the Statement of Work. It is the offeror’s responsibility to conduct due diligence in this area. 

20. Sample Work Assignment Page 4, Section 3: In the Technical Assignment Descriptions, are the “budgeted hours” specified for each WBS area strictly for the SES contractor (no Civil Servant or other contractor hours included)?

Government Response: The budgeted hours are specifically for the SES contractor only.
21. Sample Work Assignment, p.8: The entry in the fourth row from the bottom of the table, for “INNOVA S/C FSW System Test Readiness Review (STRR) package*” contains an asterisk suggesting there should be a footnote associated with this item, but there is no such footnote. Please clarify.

Government Response: The government will review this Attachment for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary.
22. Sample Work Assignment. Please confirm that the hours identified throughout the various elements of the sample problem are exclusive of any M&A hours.

Government Response: Yes, M&A hours are exclusive from the hours specified for all elements of the Sample Work Assignment.  
23. Sample Work Assignment, p. 10: The second bullet under Milestones & Deliverables at the top of the page reads: “Launch ready release: launch minus 6 months 7/1/2012” but earlier in the Sample Work Assignment the launch date was identified as 10/1/2013. Please clarify this discrepancy.

Government Response: The correct launch date is 10/1/2013 as stated on page 3 of the Sample Work Assignment.
24. Sample Work Assignment, p.10: WBS 1.4 has an estimate of 3,500 hours but then indicates “The Mission Readiness Team will be led by an SES contractor and will include contractors from the MOMS II contract and participants from all of the ground system components.” Please clarify if the 3,500 hours are exclusively for the SES staff anticipated to support this WBS element.

Government Response:  The budgeted hours are specifically for the SES contractor only.
25. Sample Work Assignment, p.12 is blank. Please clarify whether this is just a result of pagination of the document in Microsoft Word, or whether some text is missing.

Government Response: This is a result of pagination, the government will review this for any correction and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary.
26. Sample Work Assignment, Page 3, the table at bottom of page refers to ‘Operations’. Is this considered to be ‘Phase E’ activity? 
a. If so, “Phase E” should be added to the table. If not, then Page 8 Paragraph 1 needs to be clarified. 

Government Response: Operations is considered Phase E, the final RFP will be updated as necessary.
27. Sample Work Assignment Section 2.2 the diagram refers to 'Phase F' but there are no details available on this phase. Please clarify

Government Response: No requirements are defined for Disposal or Phase F as part of the Sample Work Assignment. Phase F is being displayed in the lifecycle model as a completion of all the phases of a NASA mission not that requirements exist for all.

28. Sample Work Assignment, Page 2, Satellite Bus states that  “GSFC is responsible for the in-house development of the satellite bus and the integration with all the instruments.” Is the ICD provided to the SES team or will it be developed as part of the SES contract?
Government Response: The Interface Control Document (ICD) is provided to the SES team as well as evolves via the requirements definition process.

29. Section B.2 – Level-of-Effort includes estimated direct labor hours of 2,593,862.  Total direct labor hours included with Attachment B, Target Hours total 2,719,710.  Please confirm estimated direct labor hours.
Government Response: The correction has been made to all areas of the DRFP including the cover letter. Target hours are 2,720,000. The government will review this Attachment for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary. 
30. Section B.1. Item 2 indicates that Work Assignment Plans (WAPs) must be submitted via a GSFC LOE Management System. Please describe any required interfaces between this system and the contractor system(s) in order to enable WAP submission.

Government Response: The interface will be similar to what is currently required/used with the TOMS database.
31. Section B.1, Page 8 The table of deliverables has several incorrect references (likely the result of renumbering of sections as the DRFP was assembled). These include changing the reference in item 5 from G21 to G20, Clause I.8 to I.12 in item 14 and Clause I.11 to I.15 and I.12 to I.16 in item 15.

Government Response: The government will review this Attachment for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary. 
32. Section B.2 (a) (1). Please clarify what is intended by the two asterisks in reference to Attachment B, Target Hours**. Specifically, should there be a footnote with additional information?

Government Response: The government will review this Attachment for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary. 
33. Section B.6, p.11 has a footnote identified by an asterisk, but there is no corresponding call out in the text. Please clarify.

Government Response: The government will review this Attachment for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary. 
34. Section C.2, p.14 calls for revised Work Assignment Plans (WAPs) if estimated costs vary more than +/- 10% from the plan. Please clarify if this variance is only relative to the final total cost for a Work Assignment. For example, if a Work Assignment is under running because a mission schedule slip has delayed start of a specific phase, but the contractor anticipates accelerating the effort once the phase starts in order to still complete work within the original schedule, then the monthly distribution of labor hours and costs will be very different than the original plan, but the end cost is still estimated to be within the +/- 10% envelop. Should a revised WAP be submitted in such a case?

Government Response: As long as the final cost is estimated to be within the +/- 10% range, revised Work Assignments Plans do not need to be submitted.
35. Section G.11.b.1.iv Page 29 refers to contractors' offsite facility. Are there any specific requirements (such as bandwidth availability etc) for the offsite facility?

Government Response: It is desirable for the off-site facility to have access to the Internet at a rate not lower than 10Mbps for general accessibility to GSFC systems required to conduct assigned work.
36. Section G.11.b.1.iv Page 29 refers to contractors’ offsite facility. Are there any specific security requirements for the offsite facility?

Government Response: No specific IT security requirements if access is via the general Internet other than software and system configuration to protect against malware and illegal access; however, contractors proposing direct connectivity to GSFC as a remote site do have to adhere to rigid guidelines set forth by the Information Technology and Communications Directorate (Code 700). 

37. Section L.17.1 Page 99 4th paragraph:  The escalation proposed for labor must be stated along with the actual escalation experienced in the last three years [See Exhibit 3A].

a. Please provide template for Exhibit 3A.

Government’s Response:  There is no Exhibit 3A.  This will be corrected in the Final RFP.

38. Section L.17 Cost Volume, Page 102 L.17.2. (14) Matrix of Position Descriptions:  Offers shall complete Exhibit 13 cross-referencing the Government’s labor categories and position descriptions as shown in Attachment L.

Please provide Exhibit 13 template. 
Government Response: Exhibit 13 will be provided in the Final RFP. 
39. Section L.16.2.subfactor C – Management Plan, page 96, paragraph 6, Total Comp. Plan, reference Exhibits 5a and 5b.

a. Section L.17.2. (12) Fringe Benefits Exhibits, page 102, reference Exhibits 6A and 6B.

b. Please clarify the discrepancy.

Government Response: The correct Exhibits are 6A and 6B. The government will review this Section for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary. 
40. Section L.2 (c) Page 82 requires one copy of the proposal to be submitted to the Administrative Contracting Officer and one copy to the Contract Auditor. Page 88, Section L.14 (a) (2) only requires the cost proposal to be submitted to the cognizant DCAA office. Please clarify the proposal volume and submission requirements to ACO and/or DCAA. 
Government Response: Copies of the proposal volume(s) must be submitted to and for the Contracting Officer, Contract Auditor, and the cognizant DCAA Office. The government will review this Section for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary. 
41. Cover letter 2nd paragraph:   The anticipated contract start date will be February 2010, which immediately follows the separate 45-day phase-in effort.”  

a. Section L. Section 2 Page 95 Mission Suitability, Subfactor C – Management Plan, paragraph 6 stated 30-day phase-in period.

b. Section L.17 Cost Volume, Page 102 L.17.2 (10) Phase-In Plan, state “Offerors shall propose the total firm-fixed-price associated with the 30-day phase-in period, which will be performed under a separate, firm-fixed-price order.  Exhibit 10A shall be used to state the proposed price for the phase-in, which is expected to commence on or about January 5, 2010.

c. Please clarify phase-in period will be 30 days or 45 days, and when the estimated phase-in period will begin?

Government Response: The correct phase-in period is 45 days. The government will review this Section for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary. 
42. Table L.14 (b)(1) includes references to RFP Sections L.22-L.25. The referenced Sections were not found. Please confirm if this section should be updated to reference Sections L.15-L.18.

Government Response: The government will review this Table for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary. 
43. Section L.17 Page 102 includes a provision for a FFP Phase-in; however, Section B, Supplies and/or Services to be provided does not include a section applicable to FFP phase-in offer.  Please clarify how the FFP Phase-in offer will be definitized in a resulting contract.  

Government Response: The phase-in effort will be covered under a separate purchase order issued by the Government.  It will not be a part of the SES contract.
44. L.16.3.3.13 states "The Offeror shall describe its methodology for compliance with Attachment D: DD Form 254." Attachment D is Financial Mgt reporting.

a. Please confirm that the referenced attachment is actually Attachment E

Government Response: The correct attachment is Attachment E.
45. Section L.14 (b)(1), Page 89. Table of Page Limitations indicates “Mixed” limitations for the Cost Volume but there are no specific sub-sections with identified page limits. Also, later on in section L.14(b)(3) the DRFP states that the Cost Volume is not page limited. Please clarify.

Government Response: The Final RFP will be revised to reflect that there are no page limitations for the Cost Volume.
46. Section L.14 (b)(1), Page 89. Table of Page Limitations includes the terms “Major Subcontractor” and “Significant Subcontractor.” Please identify if these terms are interchangeable. Please also clarify the definition of “Significant Subcontractor” given that some sections identify it as a subcontractor performing in excess of 10% of the contract value whereas other sections (e.g., L.17.1) define it as a subcontractor that is likely to be 10% or more of the Government Pricing Model. In fact, given that this is an LOE contract would it be more appropriate to define significant subcontractors as those providing in excess of 10% of the labor hours?

Government Response: The RFP has been revised to eliminate the term “major” subcontractor.   The definition of “significant” subcontractor is set forth in Section L.
47. Section L.15 (c) (8), Page 92. Requires a copy of the SBA approved Joint Venture agreement submitted with the proposal. However, SBA guidelines require the approval to be before the contract award and not during proposal submission (consistent with 13CFR 124.513)

Government Response:  Contractors proposing as a joint venture (JV) must provide the application for their 8(a) JV  to the Small Business Administration (SBA) prior to proposal submission and submit a copy of this submission with their proposal and include the SBA Office's representative contact information.   
48. Section L.16.3, Subfactor A. Please clarify whether responses need to include a specific section to address SOW 1.9 given that the contemplated LOE hours to support that SOW element is zero. Or should offerors assume that their responses to other SOW elements covers the SOW 1.9 area as suggested by the wording in the SOW introduction on page 1 of the SOW section.

Government Response:  It is anticipated that Code 589 will not make immediate use of this contract and/or the work assignments to be defined by that group are sufficiently in the overall Statement of Work.
49. Section L.16.3, Subfactor C, p. 95. Please clarify whether the paragraph (near the bottom of the page) starting with “The Offeror shall provide a complete staffing plan…” continues to be part of the Phase-In Plan requirements and is limited to the contract transition period, or whether it refers to staffing activities throughout the life of the contract.

Government Response: Staffing plans must be provided for both Phase-In-Plan and for the Contract. 
50. Section L.16.3, Sub-factor C, p. 96. In order to enable offerors to fully describe their approach to responding to work assignments, please provide details (e.g., based on historical data) on the number of anticipated work assignments (WAs) and WA revisions per year. Such information will allow offerors to estimate the magnitude and timeline of the WAP development process and thus to best describe their approach to WA management.

Government Response:  The Government has not determined the number of work assignments that will be issued under the SES contract.
51. L.16.3 Sub-factor C, Page 96: We assume the items 1 through 5 here are all part of TCP and hence not subject to the page limit. Please confirm
Government Response: That assumption is correct. 
52. Section M.5 Cost/Price Evaluation Factor reads in part “The Government will use the proposed indirect rate ceilings in Clause B.4, Limitation of Indirect Costs…” Please clarify if this Section should read “Clause B.7, Limitation of Indirect Costs…”

Government Response: Correct the Clause should read B.7. The government will review this Section for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary.
53. Section M.1, Sub-factor A, Page 110. Text reads “…emphasis will be placed on those SOW functions identified as major functions.” Please identify which SOW functions are considered major functions.

Government Response:  This language has been revised for the Final RFP.
54. Section M.1, Sub-factor C, Page 111. Text indicates that “The government will evaluate the offeror’s corporate resources including manufacturing and other facilities…” Please clarify this since the SOW does not appear to have requirements that would call for a manufacturing facility.

Government Response: There will be no manufacturing requirement. The government will review this Section for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary.
55. Section M.1, Sub-factor C, Page 111. Text includes an evaluation factor that reads “…the adequacy of the Offeror’s special considerations or processes used for ensuring the effectiveness and efficient assumption of work performed by another contractor…” We do not find a corresponding requirement in Section L. Please clarify.

Government Response:  The Government will review this section and make adjustments as necessary.
56. Attachment D, p.1, refers to 533s at the WBS 3 level. Please clarify what is meant by level 3.

Government Response: Government Response: A Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) is the best way to understand the detailed work and levels of the project. WBS is used to break the project down into the major phases, deliverables, and work components that will be built by the project. These work components can then be broken down into the various levels required to build a project.

57. Attachment D, p.2, e.1: the last item reads “Contractor Estimate $.” Please clarify if this refers to the Estimated Cost to Date, or the Estimated Cost at Completion of the Work Assignment.

Government Response: This refers to Estimated Cost to Date. The government will review this Section for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary.
58. Attachment D, p.3, e.2: Please describe the “pro-rate rules” to be applied to subtask detail records.

Government Response: Goddard’s accounting system automatically spreads costs across WBSs. The spread is based on oldest money first.
59. DD-254: Please identify the geographic locations (e.g., near GSFC, near WFF, near IV&V, or near White Sands) where the contractor will need to have cleared facilities and the approximate size (e.g., square footage or number of offices) of space required at each location.

Government Response:  Sensitive Compartmented Information will be handled by a limited number of contractor personnel but the staff or company is not expected to store information on-site and/or off-site. The FAR requires that a DD 254 be incorporated in each classified contract (work under the contract may involve classified material).  The DD 254 provides the contractor (or subcontract) the security requirements and the classification guidance that would be necessary to perform on a classified contract.

The contractor/subcontract has to have cleared individuals at the levels required to perform.  The Offerors need to know that a DD 254 will be issued and they need to have the proper clearances to bid a contract on day one.  
Attachment J – PEP, p.2. We assume that paragraph I.B should also include the potential for modifying the LOE to include direct labor hours related to M&A as included in Section B.2 – LOE of the DRFP. Please clarify.

Government Response: The PEP will be modified as necessary.
60. Attachment J – PEP, p.11. Please provide a description of how the maximum award fee pool will be established for each period. Specifically, if a given task order is modified (e.g., increased or decreased LOE) during the period, will the fee pool be adjusted accordingly?

Government Response:  The Government will determine the award fee pool based on the level of effort expended during that evaluation period.
61. Attachment J – PEP, p. 15. It would seem that item #9 dealing with the Contractor’s Mentor Protégé program should not apply for an 8(a) contract. Please clarify.

Government Response: There is no Mentor Protégé’ program requirement. The government will review this Section for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary.
62. Attachment K: In accordance with the PIV issuance procedures, the contractor must identify the risk/sensitivity level associated with all contractor positions. Please provide a list of existing positions and their risk/sensitivity level, or alternatively provide sufficient information to enable the SES contractor to prepare such a list.

Government Response: The Government will work with the Contractor during Phase-In to determine this information.
63. Attachment K, Step 4. Some text is missing in the first sentence. Please provide the complete text for this step.

Government Response: The government will review this Attachment for any corrections and the final RFP will be appropriately updated as necessary.

64. In the document “Exhibits 1-12-Cost Charts.xls” – Exhibit 5 Source of Personnel: 

a. Footnotes **The sum of hours shown in columns K, M, and O must equal the Hours Specified in Column Q. (NOTE:  A copy of this schedule shall be included in the Technical Proposal, Other Factors, Unpriced Elements of Cost within the Hourly Rate columns blocked out or deleted.)

b. Please clarify the input requirement on Columns K, M, and O are hours, or number of positions.  Please also clarify that input fields for columns E, G, and I are for numbers of position or hours?

Government Response:  The exhibit has been modified to clarify the government’s intent to require the number of positions. 

c. Please clarify if the Exhibit 5 shall be included in Technical Proposal, Other factors?

Government Response:  Yes, Exhibit 5 shall be included in the Technical Proposal, Other Factors “Unpriced Elements of Cost”.

65. Section L.17.1 Page 98 paragraph 6:   For significant subcontractors that are likely to be 10% or more of the Government Pricing Model, subcontractors shall provide the same cost exhibits and supporting information that is requested from the Prime Offeror, except for Exhibit #1.
a. In reviewing the Excel Cost Templates and instructions in pages 99-102, please clarify that major subcontractors are not required to complete the following Exhibits:

b. Exhibit 3 - LOE hours

c. Exhibit 4 – Elements of Costs

d. Exhibit 10, 10A– Phase-In Costs

Government Response:  Correct, the Subcontractor is not required to complete the above exhibits. 






